IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

MAY 30 1989

CLERK, SUI REME COURT

By

Deputy Clerk

PAYNE H. MIDYETTE,

Petitioner,

vs.

CASE NO. **74,091**

LARRY DONNELL MADISON and LINDA MADISON, his wife; DWIGHT YELTON and PATRICIA YELTON, his wife; and JOHN JAMES PENN,

Respondents.

ON REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, FIRST DISTRICT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 87-1947

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

R. WILLIAM ROLAND
Florida Bar Number: 0148855
KARL, McCONNAUGHHAY, ROLAND &
MAIDA, P.A.
Post Office Drawer 229
Tallahassee, FL 32302-0229
(904) 222-8121

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Payne H. Midyette entered into a contract with Dorsey Reaves who agreed to clear Midyette's twenty-eight (28) acre parcel of land located in a rural area located approximately one-quarter to one-half mile west of Interstate Highway 10. (R. 78; A. 2). The contract provided that this work would include "pushing, raking, piling and burning,'' and specified a per acre fee and completion date. Midyette provided no tools, equipment or labor, After securing a burn permit, Reaves began burning debris on Midyette's land on December 10, 1985. (A. 2).

Early the following day, on December 11, 1985, a multi-vehicle accident occurred on 1-10. As a result of the accident, respondents Madison, Yelton and Penn sued several defendants, including Midyette. The plaintiffs alleged that the smoke from the burning on Midyette's land, mixed with fog, caused dangerous visual conditions on Interstate 10. (R. 162-68).

Midyette denied liability and asserted as an affirmative defense that the alleged acts of negligence were committed by an independent contractor, thereby relieving Midyette of any liability. (R. 169-71). All plaintiffs denied Midyette's independent contractor defense and countered by raising the inherently dangerous work exception to the independent contractor defense. (R. 9).

Following a period of pretrial discovery, Midyette filed a motion for summary judgment which was granted by the trial court on November 4, 1987. (R. 319-20). The order was amended on

November 12, 1987 to correct a clerical error. (R. 321-22).

The plaintiffs filed a Joint Notice of Appeal on December 3, 1987. (R. 323-24). Following oral argument to the First District Court of Appeal, an opinion was issued on April 14, 1989, which held that Dorsey Reaves was an independent contractor but that the clearing of land by fire was inherently dangerous thereby subjecting Midyette to liability. The district court reversed the summary judgment in favor of Midyette, but certified to the Florida Supreme Court the following question of great public importance:

IS THE CLEARING OF LAND BY FIRE, AND ITS RESULTING NATURAL CONSEQUENCE, SMOKE, AN INHERENTLY DANGEROUS ACTIVITY WHICH MAY CAUSE LIABILITY TO BE FASTENED UPON THE EMPLOYER OF AN INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR FOR PERSONAL INJURIES SUFFERED BY THIRD PERSONS OUTSIDE THE PREMISES OF THE PROPERTY CLEARED?

Midyette then filed a Notice to Invoke the Discretionary Review of the Florida Supreme Court on April 28, 1989.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Whether an activity should be considered inherently dangerous or not depends on the circumstances surrounding the activity. This court should not adopt a rule which would impose liability in every case on employers of independent contractors who utilize fire to clear land. Instead of the blanket rule announced by the First District, the determination of whether a burning is inherently dangerous should be made on a case by case basis with due regard given to the surrounding circumstances. The circumstances under which this fire was set indicate that the independent contractor exercised a high degree of care by securing a burn permit before burning, conducting the burn in a rural area, and burning the debris in discrete piles.

If this court should find that the clearing of land by fire is inherently dangerous, the harm which occurred in this case was beyond the scope of risk associated with fire. If fire is inherently dangerous, it is so only because of its propensity to burn. The injuries in this case occurred as the result of smoke and not from the burning characteristic of fire. Smoke is not and has never been regarded as an inherent danger.

ISSUE:

IS THE CLEARING OF LAND BY FIRE, AND ITS RESULTING NATURAL CONSEQUENCE, SMOKE, AN INHERENTLY DANGEROUS ACTIVITY WHICH MAY CAUSE LIABILITY TO BE FASTENED UPON THE EMPLOYER OF AN INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR FOR PERSONAL INJURIES SUFFERED BY THIRD PERSONS OUTSIDE THE PREMISES OF THE PROPERTY CLEARED?

Petitioner submits that the above certified question, as phrased by the First District, actually poses two different queries to which a single answer may not apply. Petitioner respectfully suggests that the question should instead be broken down into two separate inquiries. The first is whether clearing land by fire is inherently dangerous? The second is whether smoke, in and of itself, is inherently dangerous? Petitioner suggests that the answer to either or both of these questions is "no". If the answer to either question is in the negative, then the decision of the district court is incorrect.

It has long been held that one who employs an independent contractor cannot be held liable for the negligence of that contractor. Baxley v. Dixie Land & Timber Co., 521 So.2d 170 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988); Van Ness v. Independent Constr. Co., 392 So.2d 1017 (Fla. 5th DCA), review denied, 402 So.2d 614 (1981); 57 C.J.S. Master & Servant § 584 (1948); 2 Fla.Jur.2d Agency & Employment § 109 (1977).

One recognized exception to this general rule, however, is that when the independent contractor engages in work which is inherently dangerous, the employer cannot escape liability for the contractor's negligence. Florida Power & Light Co. v. Price,

170 So.2d 293 (Fla. 1964); <u>Bialkowicz v. Pan American Condominium No. 3, Inc.</u>, 215 So.2d 767 (Fla. 3d DCA 1968), <u>cert. denied</u>, 222 So.2d 751 (Fla. 1969). The major problem courts have faced has been the determination of what types of activities should be classified as inherently dangerous so that an employer may not be relieved of liability for the acts of the independent contractor.

A. The actions of an independent contractor in clearing land by fire is not an inherently dangerous activity and is, therefore, a delegable responsibility.

The Florida Supreme Court announced, in Cobb v. Twitchell, 91 Fla. 539, 108 So. 186 (1926), that fire was a "dangerous agency." Petitioner does not dispute that assessment, but respectfully submits that there is a difference between that which is merely "dangerous" and that which is "inherently dangerous." While the two phrases have often been used interchangeably, they do not mean the same thing. Seitz v. Zac Smith and Co., Inc., 500 So.2d 706 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987) ("dangerous instrumentality' and "inherently dangerous instrumentality" do not have the same meaning and have different legal consequences (emphasis supplied)). The First District stated that "something which is inherently dangerous must be so imminently dangerous in kind as to imperil the life or limb of any person who uses it . . . " Seitz, 500 So.2d at 710. For example, an automobile has long been held to be a dangerous instrumentality, but it is not inherently dangerous in and of itself. Rather, it is dangerous only in its use and operation. Id.

Consequently, while the Florida Supreme Court declared fire to be dangerous in <u>Cobb</u>, there has never been any judicial determination in Florida that fire is <u>inherently</u> dangerous.

Instead, another Florida court addressing the issue stated that "[n]egligence is not constituted, per se, in the mere setting out of a fire for a lawful purpose and under prudent circumstances. So mere proof that damage resulted from the setting of a fire will not entitle the injured party to recover . . . " <u>Bush v.</u> <u>City of Dania</u>, 121 So.2d 169, 171 (Fla. 2d DCA 1960). See also Cobb v. Twitchell, 91 Fla. at 543, 108 So. at 187.

The <u>Bush</u> case involved a fire which started at a municipal dump and subsequently spread to a nearby aviation repair facility. The district court ultimately held that there was insufficient evidence to prove that the dump fire was the cause of the plaintiff's damages. However, the above quoted language from <u>Bush</u> indicates that, because there is no negligence per se in setting a fire, there can be no automatic liability on the part of the responsible party. This underscores the contention that Florida appellate courts, until the First District in the instant case, have never considered fire to be inherently dangerous.

The fire in the instant case, as in <u>Bush</u>, was set for a lawful purpose and under prudent circumstances. Dorsey Reaves, the independent contractor, secured a burn permit which allowed burning on the date prior to the accident from 9:00 a.m. until 4:30 p.m. (R. 40; 206). A Division of Forestry agent testified that burn permits are issued by the Division only when there is a

low nighttime stagnation index and no fire hazard. (R. 198). Thus, the fire was set when there was relatively little risk of uncontrollable burning or smoke accumulation. Additionally, the burn occurred on a twenty-eight (28) acre parcel of land located on Thornton Road in rural Leon County. (R. 78). Under the rationale of <u>Bush</u>, there would be no negligence per se and liability should not attach to Reaves' employer merely because the fire was purposely set.

In addition, there is at least one federal court that has addressed the purported liability of a landowner for a fire started by an independent contractor. In <u>Rayonier</u>, <u>Inc. v. Bryan</u>, 249 F.2d 405 (5th Cir. 1957), Cone was hired to cut timber for Rayonier and, during the cutting work, one of Cone's employees purposely threw a match into a nest of yellowjackets and started a small fire on the land. The fire was extinguished and Cone even held some of his crew at the scene dousing it with water to make certain that the fire was out.

When Cone was satisfied that the fire was completely out, he and his crew left the area. However, on the following day a forest fire was spotted over a large area and ultimately burned 6500 acres. The Fifth Circuit held that Rayonier could not be held liable for the negligent acts of the independent contractors, although Rayonier was held liable for the fire on different grounds not applicable to these proceedings.

Rayonier illustrates the general rule that employers are not per se liable for fires started by independent contractors. See also 24 Fla.Jur.2d Explosions & Fires § 31 at 501 (1981) ("As a

general rule, a party cannot be held responsible for a fire caused by an independent contractor."); 35 Am.Jur.2d <u>Fires</u> § 18 at 599 (1967) ("an employer will not ordinarily be held liable for damages due to a fire negligently set by one who is clearly an independent contractor and not under the control of the employer").

The First District attempted to distinguish <u>Rayonier</u> on the basis that the independent contractor remained liable because, and in contrast to the present case, he was not hired to clear the land by burning. Such a distinction is inapposite given the facts in <u>Rayonier</u>. While the independent contractor was not retained to clear the land by burning, the crew nevertheless intentionally set a fire to destroy a nest of yellowjackets. If intentionally setting a fire was <u>ipso facto</u> an inherently dangerous activity, then the landowner would have been responsible without regard to the reasons underlying the setting of the fire for so long as the setting of the fire was at least reasonably foreseeable.

It can hardly be said that the crew's actions in <u>Rayonier</u> were not reasonably foreseeable and yet the Fifth Circuit held the landowner not responsible for a fire intentionally set by his independent contractor. Clearly, the Fifth Circuit did not believe an intentionally set fire to be an inherent danger and the distinction drawn by the First District below is not significant given the facts in <u>Rayonier</u>.

Other courts have held that the clearing of land by fire is not inherently dangerous. In the most recent case, <u>Givens v.</u>

Terrell, 461 S.W.2d 201 (Tex. Civ. App. 1970), a collision occurred when a second pickup truck ran into the rear end of another pickup stopped on a highway. The first truck was stopped because the highway was obscured by a cloud of smoke that had drifted from a field of burning wheat stubble which had been intentionally set afire by the landowner. In affirming the judgment for the defendant landowner, the court stated that the activity of burning wheat stubble was not inherently dangerous. Givens, 461 S.W.2d at 203.

Likewise, <u>Becker v. Northland Transp. Co.</u>, 200 Minn. 272, 274 N.W. 180, aff'd on rehearing, 200 Minn. 278, 275 N.W. 510 (1937), arose out of a car accident that occurred on a highway obscured by smoke emitting from brush fires that had been purposely set by an independent contractor. The <u>Becker</u> court found that the burning of brush by an independent contractor "was not such an ultrahazardous activity that the risk could not have been eliminated by the exercise of a high degree of care."

<u>Becker</u>, 274 N.W. at 183. The Supreme Court of Minnesota thereupon affirmed a judgment relieving from liability the person who hired the independent contractor.

On rehearing, the court again reiterated its earlier holding that burning was not so hazardous that the employer should have been held liable for the independent contractor's negligence. The court stated that the independent contractor need only have exercised ordinary care when burning the brush. Becker v. Northland Transp. Co., 200 Minn. 278, 275 N.W. 510 (1937).

The determination of whether or not a specific activity

should be classified as inherently dangerous is no easy task. It has been remarked that:

courts have found no rule of universal application by which they may abstractly draw a line of classification in every case. Generally speaking, the proper test is whether danger 'inheres' in performance of the work, and important factors to be understood and considered are the contemplated conditions under which the work is to be done and the known circumstances attending it. It is not enough that it may possibly produce injury.

Reilly v. Highman, 185 Kan. 537, 541, 345 P.2d 652, 656 (1959) (emphasis added).

The vagueness of the application of this test is fairly apparent. In the Annotation, Non-delegable Duty of Employer with Respect to Work Which is Inherently or Intrinsically Dangerous, 23 A.L.R. 1084 (1923), Section 10 recites cases and situations where the liability of the employer for acts of his independent contractor has been upheld. On the other hand, section 11 recites cases where the liability of the employer has been denied. The interesting aspect of this is that there have been cases decided in direct opposition to each other on basically the same set of facts. As the annotation's author points out in section 11, "[t]he impossibility of reconciling some of the decisions with a portion of those reviewed in the preceding section [10] is manifest." Id. at 1106.

Nevertheless, according to the Restatement (Second) of Torts section 520 (1977), the determination of whether an activity is abnormally dangerous should include an analysis of the following factors:

- (a) existence of a high degree of risk of some harm to the person, land or chattels of others;
- (b) likelihood that the harm that results
 from it will be great:
- (c) inability to eliminate the risk by the exercise of reasonable care:
- (d) extent to which the activity is not a matter of common usage:
- (e) inappropriateness of the activity to the place where it is carried on: and
- (f) extent to which its value to the community is outweighed by its dangerous attributes.

Petitioner concedes that in relation to factors (a) and (b), the harm that results from fire usually will be great and that, when carried on in an inappropriate place or under inappropriate conditions, fire may pose a high degree of risk to the person, land or chattels of another. However, as to factor (c), the risk of harm from fire can be eliminated by the exercise of reasonable care as evidenced by the many controlled burns and other land clearing activities which result in no harm whatsoever to persons or property. As to factor (d), fire is commonly used as a method of burning debris or clearing land. As to factor (e), fire may or may not be appropriate to the place where it is carried on. For instance, utilizing fire to clear a lot situated in a heavily populated residential area would be inappropriate. However, clearing a lot by fire in a rural setting may not be inappropriate. In point of fact the present fire was not even a controlled burn over a particular geographic area. Instead, the land in question was first mechanically cleared and then the

debris was placed in discrete piles before it was burned.

(R. 37-38). This situation is significantly different from a controlled burn which actually clears the entire parcel of land. As to factor (f), the value of fire to a community may very well outweigh its dangerous attributes because controlled burns are valuable to the preservation of wildlife habitat and the regeneration of desirable vegatation and ground cover. Additionally, the magnitude of debris which would have to be disposed of by an alternative method, such as at a land fill site, would create an enormous burden on a waste disposal system which is already overtaxed.

Certainly there are situations in which fire can be considered inherently dangerous. However, the present case does not involve one of those situations and Petitioner would urge this court not to adopt a blanket rule which would hold employers of independent contractors liable every time there is damage resulting from a fire. Instead, the analysis of whether fire is inherently dangerous should be done on a case by case basis according to the circumstances of each. St. Louis I.M. & S. Ry. Co. v. Yonley, 53 Ark. 503, 14 S.W. 800 (1890).

In the instant case, for example, the independent contractor, took every reasonable precaution by obtaining a burn permit prior to starting any fire. (R. 40; 206). There was no

The First District cited <u>Yonley</u> for the proposition that fire was inherently dangerous. Such a holding is not explicit in <u>Yonley</u>. Rather, <u>Yonley</u> states that fire may or may not be considered inherently dangerous <u>depending</u> on the circumstances.

53 Ark. at 508-09, 14 S.W. at 801 (emphasis added).

evidence that any damage resulted from the burn itself. Rather, the damages in this case occurred from the alleged accumulation of smoke in a rural area approximately one-quarter to one-half mile from the site of the actual burn. (R. 228-29). The independent contractor had even pushed the debris to be burned into discrete piles or "windrows" so that the burning could be better controlled. (R. 37-38). This is not a situation where the fire could be considered inherently dangerous because the danger of this fire was eliminated by the use of a high degree of care.

There is substantial precedent from other jurisdictions holding that fire, under certain circumstances, is not inherently dangerous. See Swift & Co. v. Bowling, 293 F. 279 (4th Cir. 1923) (fire started to keep concrete from freezing was not intrinsically dangerous); St. Louis, I. M. & S. Ry. Co. v. Yonley, 53 Ark. 503, 14 S.W. 800 (1890) (burning brush on a right of way may or may not be inherently dangerous, depending on the circumstances); Callahan v. The Burlington & Missouri River R.R. Co., 23 Iowa 562 (1867) (damage from fire was not caused by act itself but by the careless and negligent manner in which it was done); Kellogg v. Payne, 21 Iowa 575 (1866) (independent contractor is solely liable for damages resulting from fire due to the careless or negligent manner in which the contract was performed); Becker v. Northland Transportation Co., 200 Minn. 272, 274 N.W. 180 (burning of brush was not ultrahazardous activity), affid on rehearing, 200 Minn. 278, 275 N.W. 510 (1937); Rogers v. Parker, 159 Mich. 278, 123 N.W. 1109 (1909)

(landowner/employer was not liable for damages caused by fire set by independent contractor); Shute v. Town of Princeton, 58 Minn. 337, 59 N.W. 1050 (1894) (independent contractor is solely liable for damages from fire negligently set); Wright v. Holbrook, 52 120 (1872) (independent contractor was solely liable for N.H. damages resulting from the escape of fire purposely set by him); Ferguson v. Hubbell, 97 N.Y. 507 (1884) (landowner not liable for damages caused by fire which burned adjoining lots where fire was set by independent contractor); Sorenson v. Switzer, 37 N.D. 536, 164 N.W. 136 (1917) (landowner not liable for damages caused by fire which was set by independent contractor where haystacks could have been burned without danger if proper precautions had been taken); Givens v. Terrell, 461 \$, W. 2d 201 (Tex. Civ. App. 1970) (burning field of wheat stubble is not inherently dangerous).

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