7,7

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF **THE**STATE OF FLORIDA

PAYNE H. MIDYETTE,

Appellant,

vs.

2

LARRY DONNELL MADISON and LINDA MADISON, his wife; DWIGHT YELTON and PATRICIA YELTON, his wife; and JOHN JAMES PENN,

Appellees.

ON REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, FIRST DISTRICT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 87-1947

APPELLEES' ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Michael F. Coppins, Esq.
DOUGIASS, COOPER, COPPINS &
POWELL
Post Office Box 1674
Tallahassee, FL 32302
(904) 224-6191
ATTORNEYS FOR MADISON

Beguly Clerk

CASE NO. 74,091

and/

Stephen W. Carter, Esq.
MARTINEZ, DALTON & PROVENCHER
719 Vassar Street
Orlando, FL 32804
(407) 425-0712
ATTORNEYS FOR PENN

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Appellant's statement of the facts is incomplete and inadequate in two areas which bear on the certified question now before the Court.

Mr. Midyette's description of the land upon which Dorsey Reaves set his fires as a "rural area" should not produce images of pastoral, unpopulated expanses untouched and uninfluenced by humanity. Mr. Midyette's twenty-eight (28) acre tract was located in greater Tallahassee within one quarter mile of heavily traveled Interstate Highway 10 (R-232). The land sat adjacent to parcels containing single family residences (R-272). Indeed, it was the testimony of adjacent homeowner Carol Peele which revealed the nature, timing, and quantity of the smoke that Reaves' burning activities produced (R-276-277).

The size of the burning assignment given to Reaves is illustrated by the equipment (two bulldozers) necessary to create the three separate burn piles which Reaves ignited. Each burn pile was 5 feet wide and 20-30 feet long, and was sprayed with diesel fuel to get the fires started (R-38). Reaves tried to burn two of the three burn piles simultaneously, but had difficulty keeping the two piles burning because of the vegetation, dirt, and wet pine straw in the piles (R-44).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The certified question should be answered in the affirmative. An inherently dangerous activity is one that in the ordinary course of events would probably cause injury if proper precautions were not taken. The use of fire to clear debris from land is the use of an agency long declared by the Florida Supreme Court to be a **dangerous** agency.

A majority of jurisdictions other than Florida have characterized the clearing of land by fire as an inherently dangerous activity. The First District's opinion aligns Florida with the majority view, and comports with the modern realties of dangers inherent in land burning operations in proximity to heavily traveled interstate highways.

The fact that smoke, the natural and inevitable by-product of fire, was the ultimate agent by which the injuries were caused is immaterial. The injuries flowed in natural and proximate sequence from the setting of fires to the land.

- 2 -

ARGUMENT

IS THE CLEARING OF LAND BY FIRE, AND ITS RESULTING NATURAL CONSEQUENCE, SMOKE, AN INHERENTLY DANGEROUS ACTIVITY WHICH MAY CAUSE LIABILITY TO BE FASTENED UPON THE EMPLOYER OF AN INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR FOR PERSONAL INJURIES SUFFERED BY THIRD PERSONS OUTSIDE THE PREMISES OF THE PROPERTY CLEARED?

The First District has now included the clearing of land by fire as among those inherently dangerous activities for which the duty of reasonable care is non-delegable by a landowner. The First District's analysis is logical and cogent, and need not be repeated. The First District's opinion aligns Florida with the majority of other states which have considered this issue.

Appellant clings to the argument that is a case about smoke, and that the Court should cleave the law by analyzing the propensities of fire and smoke as though they were unrelated. Appellant's attempt to bifurcate the inseparable is compelled by the opinion of <u>Cobb v. Twitchell</u>, **108** So. **186** (1926), wherein this Court declared fire to be a dangerous agency.

Appellant's argument that "fire is not smoke, and smoke is not fire" fails for the reasons expressed in the First District's opinion. It defies logic and common sense to suggest that smoke is anything other than the natural

consequence and inevitable by-product of fire. Moreover, it is the act (clearing land by fire), and not the precise mechanics by which the act causes harm (smoke), on which the inherently dangerous activity analysis is properly focused.

A common theme of Appellant's Initial Brief is the argument that Dorsey Reaves, the landowner's independent contractor, used reasonable care in the conduct of the burning activity for which he was hired. This argument is absolutely irrelevant to this appeal, for the question of Reaves' negligence was not the issue decided by summary judgment, nor was it treated by the First District. The issue of Reaves' negligence remains to be determined at trial. The question before this Court is whether the work or activity of Reaves (the clearing of land by fire) is properly characterized as inherently or intrinsically dangerous, such that the duty to perform the work in a reasonably safe and careful manner is non-delegable by Reaves' employer.

The First District properly cited <u>Florida Power and Liaht Co. v. Price</u>, 170 So.2d 293 (Fla. 1964) for a description of the test to be applied in analysis of the inherently dangerous work doctrine. The test is whether "danger **inheres** in the performance of the work." The <u>Price</u> opinion described the danger as sufficient "if there is a recognizable and substantial danger inherent in the work, even though a major hazard is not involved."

The Supreme Court's analysis in <u>Price</u> of "inherently dangerous" is, in turn, consistent with the explanation provided in Prosser, <u>Law of Torts</u>, (4th Ed.). Prosser states that inherently dangerous work is work which, in its nature, will create some peculiar risk of injury to others unless special precautions are taken. Among the work examples cited by Prosser as inherently dangerous is "the clearing of land by fire." Prosser, <u>Law of Torts</u> (4th Ed. p.472-473)

In describing fire as a dangerous agency, this Court has observed that "one setting out a fire must use care to prevent it from damaging his neighbor in proportion to the risk reasonably and ordinarily to be anticipated by a prudent person under the circumstances." <u>Cobb</u>, *supra*. In the absence of special precautions, land set afire is certainly an activity which creates a substantial risk of harm or injury to third persons.

A substantial portion of Appellant's brief is taken up with argument and analysis directed to the issue of **abnormally dangerous activities**, or **ultra hazardous activities**, for which strict liability obtains under the rule first announced in <u>Rvlands v. Fletcher</u>, L.R. 3 H.L. 330 (1868). **See generally**, Prosser, <u>Law of Torts</u> (4th Ed.), § 78.

Appellant's reference to § 520 of the Restatement (Second) of Torts is entirely misplaced, for this Court is **not** asked to declare the clearing of land by fire to be an abnormally dangerous activity. Abnormally dangerous activity

and inherently dangerous activity are two separate legal concepts with altogether different consequences. An activity declared to be abnormally dangerous (e.g., dynamite blasting) carries with it the burden of strict liability for its consequences. An inherently dangerous activity (e.g., operating a crane) merely renders non-delegable the duty to use reasonable care, but negligence remains an issue in the lawsuit.

The <u>Restatement (Second) of Torts</u> addresses the inherently dangerous activity doctrine in §§ 416 and 427, as follows:

§ 416. Work Dangerous in Absence of Special Precautions

"One who employs an independent contractor to do work which the employer should recognize as likely to create during its progress a peculiar risk of physical harm to others unless special precautions are taken, is subject to liability for physical harm caused to them by the failure of the contractor to exercise reasonable care to take such precautions, even though the employer has provided for such precautions in the contract or otherwise."

§ 427. Negligence as to Danger Inherent in the Work

"One who employs an independent contractor to do work involving a special danger to others which the employer knows or has reason to know to be inherent in or normal to the work, or which he contemplates or has reason to contemplate when making the contract, is subject to liability for physical harm caused to such others by the contractor's failure to take reasonable precautions against such danger."

The clearing of land by fire is an activity which fits §§ 416 and 427 with perfection. Comment c. to § 427 even states that "the rule stated applies where the work involves the use of instrumentalities, such as **fire** (e.s.) or high explosives, which require constant attention and skillful management in order that they may not be harmful to others."

The fact that danger inheres in the clearing of land by fire, and the fact that in the ordinary course of events a fire will probably cause injury if proper precautions are not taken, is the very reason that the clearing of land by fire is extensively and comprehensively regulated by the Florida Division of Forestry. Section 590.12, Florida Statutes (1987), makes it a **crime** for a person to conduct a land clearing operation using fire without first obtaining authorization from the Division of Forestry. Pursuant to legislative authority, the Florida Department of Agriculture and Consumer Services, Division of Forestry, has promulgated administrative rules regulating the open burning of materials outdoors. Fla. Admin. Code Rule 51-2.001, et seq. Open burning of wooden material or vegetation generated by a land clearing operation is regulated as to times, proximity to occupied buildings or public highways, atmospheric and meteorological conditions, and the size and composition of the pile materials. Fla. Admin. Code Rule 51-2.007. The imposition of criminal sanctions, and the comprehensive regulatory environment within which the clearing of land by fire

is conducted is compelling testimony to the danger inherent in the activity. The inherent danger provides the very basis upon which regulatory oversight exists.

The dangers to third persons presented by smoke bellowing from land clearing fires is neither infrequent nor illusory. The potential smoke hazard which accompanies every agricultural burn is reflected in the separate consideration given to a fire's location by the Division of Forestry. Mr. Bill Wheeler, Forestry Area Supervisor for the Florida Division of Forestry, was deposed in this case (R-191-263). The following question and answer transpired concerning burn authorizations:

- Q: All right. As to a burn that is going to occur in some proximity to a major highway such as Interstate 10, does the proximity to a highway like that have any influence on whether your dispatcher is going to issue the permit, not issue the permit?
- A: Yes. We have what we consider smoke sensitive areas, and entire I-10, Thomasville Highway, around hospitals, health carefacilities and so forth, we -- we designate as smoke sensitive areas, and any burn within a half a mile of those smoke sensitive areas are required -- requires greater scrutiny, and in some cases on-site inspection, and in some cases, just absolute denial because we do not allow any burning at all within those areas. (R-209-210.)

The case of Wright v. Fla. Dept. of Agriculture, 13 FLW 2646 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988) is yet another case produced by a catastrophic traffic accident caused by the accumulation of smoke on an interstate highway. Although the

<u>Wriaht</u> ase resolved issues of overeign immunity, the factual pattern of <u>Wriaht</u> is evidence that harm to third persons caused by smoke produced from a land fire adjacent to a highway is an increasingly frequent and tragic occurrence in Florida.

The Florida Division of Forestry, in association with the Florida Forestry Association, has filed an Amicus Brief taking the curious position that the First District's ruling somehow "emasculates" the beneficial forestry practice of controlled burning. With all due respect, the Division of Forestry and the Florida Forestry Association are on the wrong side of this issue. Nothing within the First District's opinion suggests that agricultural burning be curtailed or restricted. Rather, in categorizing the clearing of land by fire as an inherently dangerous activity, the First District has affirmed and provided judicial imprimatur to the Division of Forestry's efforts to ensure that the practice is conducted safely, prudently, and with due care.

The Amicus Brief also suggests that answering the certified question in the affirmative will somehow work a hardship on landowners who propose to use controlled burns as part of the ownership and cultivation of their land. To the contrary, the First District's opinion merely places the ultimate responsibility for this activity where it belongs - in the hands of the landowners who derive the environmental and economic benefits of the burning. If this Court were to hold that the clearing of land by fire is **not** inherently dangerous, landowners

large and small would be absolved of any duty to make **any** effort to insure that burning was conducted with reasonable care, as long as the landowners make sure to hire an "independent contractor" to set the fires. Questions about permits, adequate training and experience, adequate manpower, adherence to fire safety standards, et al., would be of no concern whatsoever to the landowner, shielded as he were by the independent contractor doctrine. Appellees respectfully suggest that enlightened public policy requires that in Florida the substantial risk of harm presented to innocent third persons by negligently conducted agricultural burns should be borne by the landowner, and not delegated to the "independent contractor" riding the bulldozer.

As pointed out in the First District's opinion, the majority of other states to consider the issue have held that the clearing of land by fire is inherently dangerous, and that the duty of reasonable care is non-delegable by the landowner to an independent contractor. <u>See</u> cases collected in Annotation, <u>Liability for Spread of Fire Purposely and Lawfully Kindled</u>, 24 A.L.R.2d 241,290 (1952).

Appellants have cited virtually every case representing the minority view (11), and of those cited, a majority (6) were decided in the nineteenth century. Nineteenth century America did not include automobiles, interstate highways, and the densities of population which characterize the 1989 setting within which the Court must answer the certified question.

Appellant cites the Texas case of <u>Givens v. Terrell</u>, **461** S.W.2d 201 (Tex. Civ. App. 1970) as the "most recent" case among those few holding that the burning of land is not inherently dangerous. Even the <u>Givens</u> case is almost 20 years old, and arises out of a state with an enormous land mass, characterized in west Texas by large, unpopulated, semi-arid parcels. The geography and demography of Florida is in stark contrast to the Texas of 20 years ago. Florida is now the fourth most populous state in the nation, and one is hard pressed to find areas of Florida where negligently conducted land burning would not implicate heavily traveled highways and densely populated areas.

The most recent judicial treatment of this issue appears to be Koos v. Roth, 652 P.2d 1255 (Or. 1982), where the Oregon Supreme Court dealt with the issue of a landowner's liability for damages caused by field burning. Oregon, like Florida, is a state with a comprehensive regulatory scheme on the subject of land clearing with the use of fire. The Oregon court began by describing the use of fire as "the aboriginal dangerous activity," and proceeded to declare the clearing of land by fire to be an **abnormally dangerous activity**, for which a landowner would be strictly liable!

While "abnormally dangerous activity" and "strict liability" represent the extreme position as to land fires, the <u>Koos</u> opinion reflects current judicial

attitudes toward a modern problem - the interaction of highways and motorists with the dangers inherent in a negligently conducted land burning operation.

In summary, the question certified by the First District should be answered in the affirmative. If the clearing of land by fire, to include the natural by-product of smoke, does **not** constitute an inherently dangerous activity, then why does the State of Florida clothe the activity with a comprehensive regulatory scheme, and why has the legislature **criminalized** the act of using fire to clear land without authorization from the Division of Forestry. The First District's decision reaffirms this Court's holding in <u>Cobb</u> that fire is a dangerous agency. Moreover, this opinion aligns Florida with the majority view, and places the responsibility for the exercise of reasonable care in the burning of land in the hands of the party most able and appropriate to bear the burden - the landowner for whose economic benefit the burning occurs.

CONCLUSION

The certified question should be answered in the affirmative.

DOUGLASS, COOPER, COPPINS & POWELL

Post Office Box 1674

Tallahassee, Florida 32302-1674

Telephone: (904)224-6191 ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLEES

MICHAEL F. COPPINS